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The attached account of the Rising in 1916 is the
text of a lecture delivered by me in 1944 to the Irish

Transport and Gensral Workers' Union in Liberty Hall.

It was besed on notes written by me at the time
of the events which they describe and it contains alT

the firet-~hend information I have of that period.

These mnotes have already been published in the
Capuchin Annual of 1942,

I have since been informed that my statement that
de Valera and his men arrived in St. Patrick's Park
for the surrender, which was based on information

received at the time, is incorrect.
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'~ I have been asked to racall fpr you some uanriaa of a stirring period in the story

of our country, There are amongst you those who could tell that story more interestingly
and from more intimate knowledge because they were in closer touch with the ewsnts of
Easter wWeaki, For that reason I hesitated to comply with the request; and I am hers

eimply because I could not refuse to do a favour when asked by men who 611 many occasiong
")
had shown thomselves kindly and courteous to mafand had gone t¢ o great deal of troudble

and inconvenience to help me, It ls , too, & pleasure for me to be with you, 48 a

¥

Priest 1 am the minlster, that is the servant of all classes - or perhaps rather I shouf
say, I know no class for every soul 1s equally preoious, But my ministry has been chiefly
cast amongst the working class of Dublin, and I am proud to think that I may call them

“my friends: I have always fely .at home with them,

e
) ]

! And now that 1 came to0 tell my tale, such as it is, I realise how rapidly history
1s made, The great Emncyclical 'Rerum Novarum' is acclaimed the world over as the 'Worke '\
era' Charter' - ané yet how few now living can recall the death of Plus 1X, and the -

election of Leo XII1 -the author of the immortal encyclicall It seems but yesterday to

me, The gtatue of Charles Stuart Parnell adorns yowr principal thnraughi‘a.re/ and to
the younger gemeration it is an anolent land mark , Ican remember the first great
victory of the man and his trlumphant entry into Cork when he was halled as the ' un-

crownaed King of Ireland ' ! Then there was the glorious eponh when s united people

stood anthuaiiutiw.lly heh.tnﬂ %‘hﬂ nulis u‘wa .ramu oﬂ- thﬂgriuh Paryy in ite struggle
"'-"E - LY I- " e ILH_

faz- the independence of Irnland =then the rise of the Sinn Pein. Movement and the begin-

]

ning of the Volunteera and the Citizen Armg.'
* And then to come to the
Period with

T —



which we are concerned tonight, the Rleing and ite sequel : thie is I944 usnd it

means that we are 28 years removed from historic 1916, It means that any man

28 years or under was mot born, and that over that &age many wore “but bables or 1it-

lo more than infants and incapable of understanding or appreciating what was happen=

Sprials

ing around them, And 80 I am talking to mpdty whose only scquaintance with the
eventas 0f the time must be through neepaper chronicles =in many instances lnaccurate
and misleading - or through talks such as this tonight, I am not tonight concerned

1

with the political aspect or implications of the events - but with the historical
aspact only, History in years to oame will be constructed from various contacts pieced
together into a whole and with the important eventa sifted from the trivial and inaig

!

nificant. It was my office as Priest that brought me into touch with the happenings
of the period, I shall follow notes which at the time I Jotted down as an alde-memoire

b
and “}fh later appeared 1n the Capuchin snnual - Inedeed I can glive you littls more

~Just the notes expandaed hare and there,

.
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Circumstancea oreated so many contacts between Jhurch Street and the participants

in the Esster Week Hising that w wore led to think that we were ln the secret

and wera award of the preparations, But that ls not so, The truth ls that it all cams

on us &s & surprise as it did on moet peopla., On Sunday night the Openling Concert

/

of the Faiher Mathew Pels was held in the Father Mathew Hall, The House was full and

1 i 4

I remember well how Misa Joan Burke sang the Minstrel Boy with & spirit that electri

i

fied the large sudience - the atmosphere seemaed charged and I rarely saw an—wsddence
I
80 enthusiastic, Of course the-e had been rumours of all sorts in the City that

day, There had been preparations for a Parade of Voluntesrs and it had been called

I

off ; and that was enough to account for the tense spirit and the pitch of enthusiasm

that cabaseer oharacterised the meeting. Perhaps some of those present were in the

Inew - perhaps soma of the artistes had an inkling or suspicion of gomething, I do

not lmow,

Next merning -Baster hionday -~ I walked over to Glouceater Street té say lass at the

Uonvent, On my way I noticed some Flanna scouts on himlab =and latarjpauaing to
/

Glouocester St.raatjl met Padraig Pearse end another Volunteer on bicycles. They

rode by wlthout recognising me - they were evidently intent on reaching their gb=-
Jective in time, Padralg Pearse wore a loose overcoat or makintosh which covered
gome bsgRage, "’hey had come into Gloucester Street from Rutland 3treet,l underatand ,

and the voluntesrsd who accompanied Pndraig}l was later informed was willis Pearse,
[ ]

1 at once concluded that there was something in the alr -probably they had declded

to attempt the parade in spite of the suthorities, On my way back to Church Straeet

1 passed several individual volunte.rs -some on blcyoles.

Shortly after I2 o'clock am we were at luncheon we were atartled by rifle fire; and
very soon word was brought to the Friary that a 1ittle boy had been shot near the B
rather Llathew Hall, and a wounded man was also brought to the Ffriary, and a number
of terrified childrﬂnlcrslngfcamn to ua for shelter. By I.30 p.m. barricades hud
been erected in Church Street and were mamned by Volunteers, The Pather lathew
Feis was in session and the children were hastlly got under ths stage for aa.ratL
until it was Judg:ad wise to send them home, in Australian who happened to be in
Dublin passing through Church Street storped to speak to me -1 was atanding at the

Vhurch Gate, He told me that he waa a dootor and he oifered his services to render
any asslstance nesded, He attended to the woundsd man who had been brought to the
Friary, Towards night volleye of firing became more frequent -and at midanight



L= ~ J

P .

itf‘becama g0 violent that it seemed to be at our vsry gates, The wvoluntgers rang the
t T

house bell to tell us that the military wera actually in Bow Street. They were mistal~

)
en however, »hat had happened was that an attack was made by volunteers on the . uays

oh & military detachment with ammunition,

On Tuesday morning volleys of rifle fire were :E'ruquﬂ:nt. A request was made by the

Richmond Hospital for the services of some of the Pathers as wounded men were arriving

there, A few of the Fathers went and took up residence at the = Vpitu.l for the re d £
Phs sy oo a2 To Gy ek 0200 g Sy €
“w

7 PO st e mk%@
er of the week, The Volunteers took over the Fathar Mathew Hall as a hospital for
T haryfag P [orviit [Frarretarusd

first ald,and Cumann na mban girls attended to emergenoy oases, Some of our Pathers
were also constantly in attendance, Serious cases were removed to the Richmond,
Rumours had been cdrrent the previous day thatthe G,P,0. and Uastle had been taken
'IE.r the Volunteers and that the Magazine (Powder) in the Park had been blown upg News

bhad reached us of the death of Sean Connolly who had been shot at the City Hall or

'

uﬂ.ltlﬂ.

The Voluhteers took possession of the naw].y' built { but u.'nﬂniahaﬂ lCorporation
Houses in Church Street, The windows wereprotectsad with sandbage ,

Next day (Wadnesday) the wildest rumours were in circulation but no incident of

T
special interest was reported. The rifle fiwémy and machine gun firing weae co:-

tinued throu gn the day, On Thursday very extensive fires could be seon and as

S

far as we could locate them they were principally in 0'Connell Street, and G.P.0.

and Clery's seemed to be involved. The rifle and machine gun volleys were al-

: moat contingous,

The Volunteere had taken prisoners -soldiers from Linenhall

]
w», Darracks and a D M.P. man, and I{ad them working at filling sandbags in the Fathep

» athew Hall, On Friday the machine gun firing was continuous and th re were m

m.ny explosiona from bombs or hand grenades,
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We haardhhaa.vy boom of oannon from the direotion of the Bay, This was Friday a.n}

owing to difficultles of transport food aa running short and it was difficult to
obtiain milk, The Voluntesers worked very hard to bring up provisions, aAnd Is ghould
here recall the fearless conduoct of the young ;:lum :whu braved all danger and
kept sommunioationa golng between varlous postsa and randered valuable asslatance

in meintainlng aupplles, 4 sad occoqrrence was reported today from the North Imblin
Union = Two young fellows climbed to top of the clock tower only to be caught by
gnipers from Broadatone and fatally wounded,

The firing was very intemse all' through Friday sight -and without cessation until

3 to 4 p,m, on Saturday afterncon, Many explosions , and many buildinges could be
geen blaging. The number of wounded was incresasing and many cases were brought to
the Father Mathew Hauﬁ;; 4 p.m, the Military were aa far as the junction of
£ing Street and Churoh Street and were firing on the Church Street barricades Tie
Cumann ns mBan girls at the Father Mathew “all were very excited and naturally feared

for the poor wounded under thelr care, A meassage had been seént under a white flag

to sequaint the military that the Hgll was belng used as & hospital but it had no

%

effect, Father Augustine despatched Mige,l O'Folghludhs with & white flag to se-

cure a doctor but he was detained by the military, A second messagger bearing a

white flag and red cross flag and & note to the Commander was sent, lo the note

Father Aunpustine inflormed the Commander that he was a Priest and asked for the favour
of an interview at the barrier as the Hall was used as hospltal and had sevaral very se

serious cases, The reply was oral : The military would grant none of the amenitiea
gy
of war but would treat them as outlaws and rebels, \Thn posltion was desperate ana
-
k

father augustine and myself decided that there was no option but to g0 ourselves



. {£;:> ‘ ts;fﬁx’
~ =

and seek4 an interview with the Officer in command. accompanied by Volunteer Doylw
Ve

g Who carried a white flag we passed the barrier and between two soldiera with fix
f . L

ed bayonets we went to North King Streat} until we reached opposite the new houses __
near Lurgan Street ’w‘mrﬂ we wora told we should walt the arrival of Colonsl Taylor
who was in charge. vhile we walted there three large companies of soldleramarched

" Ly and an armedred oar and an ambulance staniﬁ:ﬂ The Golonel then arrived and lis
tened to our statememt: he made no angwer but unceremoniously turned and walked off.

-
A long time elapased - to us it seemed an hour so anxlous were we for the safety of

f
the poor patients in the {n.thar liathew Hall, Then we saw Col, Taylor at the cormer of
Church Street, and we approached him, He very ocoly informed us that a truce had been
arranged, While with the Colonel Migeal O'Foghludha came to unmplain:tha.t the soldiera
had prevented him from going fo:s ddotor. Just as he was speaking some shots rang out
frem & housebetween N. King S5t, and N,Brunswick Street; and turning to ¥oley Col,Taylor
brutally shoutes, at him to stop the firing or he would shoot him, and ordering him to
the other side of the street he kept him covered by his revolver; Poor Folejy exhausted
and hoarse trled to tell the Volunteers that there was a truce and asked them to oease
‘ﬂring. Pather Augustine stepped forward and appaaled to them, oo, and informed them t
+that Col,Taylor had told us that following advice to surrender from Pearse s truce had
been made, The Volunteers believed it was anly & ruse of the iilitary and would not
believe it, However they agreed to keep the truce for the night on our undertakigto see
° Pearse in the morning at the earliest moment and satisfy ourselves and them of the
genuineness of Pearse's meassage, Ve then returned to Father Mathew Hall and gave word

to those 1n charge of the wounded, Arrangements were at once made to transfer the wound

cd to Richmond Hospital,
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And now we come to the second chapter of the traglc story - the Sunday of the

= Surrenders, father Augustina and myself celebrated lass about 7 0'C and after
s cup of coffes and a very light meal of bread only we walked to the Castle to
geek & permit to see Pearse, We had an intervliew with Brigadier General lowe who wag in
cormand of the British Milirary Forces. He recelived us very courteously and promptly
granted us the permit to see Pearse at Avbour Hill. The General suggested that we should
gee Connolly also as he was responsible for the Citigzen army, and he took us to the
rocm ia the Castle wharaki}nnmlly vas & patlent, In our ‘prﬂsa‘.:ma he asked Connelly if
his signature to the letter advising surrender was genuine, Connolly's reply was :" Yes,
to prevent needless slasughter” He added that he spoke only for his pwn men,
General Lowe then placed his car at our disposal, but he appealed to us %o procgaeed to
Jagob's Faotory after we had seen Pear'u and assured the Church Street Volunteers of
the genulneness of the message, He told us that the Volunteers in Jacob's were still
holding out and that he had mot succedded in getting the message to them; It would,hs '
gald , be a great charity if we oould do this as otherwise he would be obliged to attaak

L and demolish the Zactory with great loss of life,

we drove to Arbour Hill, saw Pearse , wnd were assured by him that he had signed the

letter, The text of the message was;
" In order to prevent the further slaughter of Dublin aitigzens, and in the hope of
gaving our followers, now surrcunded and hoplessly outnumbered, the members of the

Provisional Government present at Headquarters have agreed to an uncondltlonal sur-

render, and the commandants of the variuoca districta in the City and country will

order thelr commands to lay down arms, '

-
r

P H.Poarass
29th, «pril 1916.

it was sipned by J, Connolly with the note that he signed only for men under hle

gommand,
e now learned that Pather Columbus had already pbtained a copy of the message and had

brought it to the notice of the Volunteurs in the distriet and that they had surrendered,

#a then proceeddd im the direction of Jacob's , and leaving car and chauffeur a little

L 2
above Whitefriars St, Priory we went on foot to the #actory, ‘i@ were admitted through

w» Pater Street eantranc brought to Commandant Thomas HcDonagh, Miss O'Farrell had

already arrived with a copy of Yearse's letter
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Hera we met Major McBride who said that he would oppose any attempt at surrender.
M@ Donagh sald that as Pearse and Co nolly were under arrest they were not froe
mén and the letter written b them in custody could have no welght, He was next
in command now that the others were uander arrest, and he could net enter into ne-
gotiations with anyone exoept the General Officer commanding the British Milltary.
He waa preparcd t0 meet him anywhere for parley - in the Factory or elsewhere,

He sald that they had ample provisions and could hold out for some weeks, Lclonagh

believed that a Poace Conference in Burope was on the polnt of being swemoned and

was convinced that Irelahnd would command attention and a right to partioclpuate if

1t were & belligerent, We underteok to convey his message to Gen,lowe, and at his
request we acoompanled him to Infirmary Road where he oonsulted Gen,Maxwell, After
consultation with Maxwell he informed us that he was prepared to meet l:.cDomagh and
asked us to convey & letter to McDonagh in which he stated that he was willing to
meet him at the N,ERat Corner of S.Patrick's Park at I2 or I o{'¢,and undertcck to

give MoDonagh safe conduct back to the Factory,

We accompanied McDonagh and pnot .er voluntser to St,Patrick's Park at hour appointed

and Gen, Lowe and MoDonagh met and conversed for some time on footpath and then

withdrew to Gen.Lowe's Car in which they continued the parley,

The parley over, McDonagh returned to us and told us that he had deolded to advise

surrender and that there was a truce until 3 p.m, usantime he was to consult the
men at Jacob's , South Dublin Union, and Marrovbone Lane and give final decision

to General Lowe at 3 p.m, We then thought to return to Church S5t. but Gen.

Lowe begged us to see the whole thing through as any hitch might be fatel and he
was anxious to prevent further bloodshed, He placed his motor at our service and
wlth MeDonagh we .mt.umnd to Jacob's, A council of officers was held there, Perhaps
I should here remark that we took no pl;nu-i-—- part in the conference and that all t

tha decisions were the fres declelons of the men 1nvolved,

Our next business was t0 uccompany MoDonagh to the 8,D.,Union, At Basin Lane we
got out of car which remained at the barrier and continued cur journsy on foot.

st the Union we met Eampnn Ceannt, The officers had a consultation and decided to
surrender, Returnlng on foot to barricade at Pasin Lane McIonagh, a Voluntear,
Father Augustine and myself we very nearly got a hot reception, One of tha British
soldlers flred at us =~ the four of us escaped, I dont say bvecauss the soldier was

& poor aim, but because, we ware told, he had g drop é.f dring ¢
L
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» One of the officers hastened to apologlse and told us that the soldler was put under

arreat,
\

THE SURRENDER .

At '3 p.m, we were agaln at St.Patrick'e Park , Thomas MoDonagh taking off his
belt handed it with hie revolver to Gen, Lowe, It was then agreed that McDonagh
should return and arrange the surrenders at Jacoh's, Esrrnw'nnwal lans, and 3.D.
Union., This time we were accompanied by Gen,Lowae's son, and another officer and
firat we went to karrowbone Lane, I remalned outside with motor and there was con
siderable delay., 1 underastand that there was some difficulty in persuading the
company to surrender as they were well fortified and had ample provisions, After
that we went again to S.D, Union, B, Ceannt speaking to one of the officers told

him that it would surprise him to see the very mmall number that had held the plaage,

And now we are baock at Jaoob's, The Volunteers were lined up in basement pre-
pared to leave, Fr, Augdetine wae taking messages from them for their relatives.
Fr.Monahan had arrived to offer hies servlces, Suddenly we heard a tremendous crash
- and sounds like bomba exploding , and a volunteer came to tell us that tha looters
had smashed the window und were breaking in to the offices at Bishop Street side,
s fr.Monahan and myself went at onoce and with diffloulty got to the scene as a water
main had been burat and the place was flooded, The looters werda busy and wa found
them getting cut into the street with the atolen goods, I atood at the window and
addressed them - if a:rer 1 managed to put fire into my words it was then, Side by
side with the manly and straightforward conduct of those who had borne the brunt
of the trying week 1 thought their condnot wretched and despioable and I 4id not
mince my worda, The result was that the crowd pwomised to legve and go to their
homes and the looters -at least a goodly number of them - threw baok the looted
articles, memv & Comanrty meany
_Fathnr Augustine and myself sald goodbye to the men at Jauob'uﬁand withdrow,.
When we reached St.Patrink:_n Park we aaw E.Ceannt'g contingent arrive from S5.D.
Union and ground arme, E,de Valera with his forges also arrived. Amongst the
sorces were several girls - some armed,
4nd now we were glad to get back to Church Street ~ glad to get something to eat

-- - it was about 7 p,m, &and we had been fasting from early morning.

Thle concludes the aecond chapter. and now 1 have to recall a sad week '—the
waak of the Executions,
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“ on 30th, April and succeeding days prisoners were removed from

Richmond Barracks and transferred by cattle boats from North Wall
to English and Scottish Jalls -Knutsford, Stafford, Wakefield,

. wandsworth - and a3 they marched sllently along the quays they
were on some occasions hooted by the crowd, In a few daya, however,
the exesoutions wepe t0 change the attitude of the people and anger
was to stir them againat the Govermment for the brutal treatment of
btreve men and admiration for the herolism of the men who had offered

thoir lives for Ireland was to pselgze on all,
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THE EZXECUTIONS

It was the firet week of May, Barly in the morning of Monday the son of
Superintendent Dunne D.M.P. called to Church Street with a message from Fathwr
Marphy the Lllitary Chaplain to the effect that he would be glad if I could
call to the Castle us James Connolly a prisoner and patlent in hospital had
oxpressed & wish to see me, I went right away with young Mr Dumne and Father
lurphy told me that hs had made all necessary arrangements and had the required
permissions for me, \With Captain Stanley R.AM.C., I went to the ward or room
in which Connolly was a patlient, At the door the sentry challenged Capt,Stanley
saying that his instructions were to allow no ome to see the prisoner unless
with speclal permit, Uapt.Stanley then went to seek the necessary permit., The
sentry asked me 1f 1 were Father sloysius and sald that I.could go in, FHowever,
I delayed as the nurses were engaged with the patlient, and meanwhile Capt.Stanley
arrived back with hie permit, We entered the room tégether, Two soldiers were on
guard with rifles and fixed bayonets, 1 protested and insiasted that 1 should
be allowed to see the patient alene, I was informed that it could not be dona,
1 asked Capt,Stanley if he was a Yatholic, and he eaid he was not. Well, I sald,
perhaps you cannot understand the position, Confeselon is a serious and a secrat
function, 1 cannot go on with the men present -I must have privagy. I have not
spoken to Connolly before and do not know put he may not be keen in hesaring, In
any case 1 must feel satlsfled that he can speak to me and I to him without danger
of' being over heard., Captain Stanley sald that he had no power to make obher arrange
ments and 1 suggested that we should see Father lurphy. On the way we mat Qen,*
Lowe and “apt. Stanley told him about the situation., The General said he WaS BOrry
but it was regulation ., w311.11 sald, 1 have given my word that I am on no polit-
Icﬁl mission and am not going to use the opportunity for any political purpose -
that 1 am acting only as & minister of religion - as & Priest, If my wurd\ as a
Priest cannot be accepted, then he had.better get some other Priest - I should ref’
refuse to undertake the duty 1f he could not glve me the privacy 1 aaked for. The
General eaid he had no doubt wbout my word -but 1t was the rule governing such
caged =~ I ocould help the prisoner to escape -th t 1g the way the negulutions
loocked at it = or if Conno ly attempted to escape 1 might not be strong encugh
to prevent it, Ly anewer was that 1 "4 not interfere =it wag n't my Jjob. If

they could not make provision Tor such an event without having s0ldiers aotualy
T

in the room - | ?
. - i e ——
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officers remarking that ' they uere the gleanest and bravest lot of boys he had aver

mat', Agein it is a pleasure to acknowledge goodness whaenever and wharever it is

* met, and I must here record another act of humanity and kindheartedness on the part
of Lord Poweracourt, Meeting me at the Castle on the occaslon of one of my visite to
James Comnolly he asked me if I could visit or get one of the Fathers to viaslt the
wife of one of the prisoners - Wm.Halpin of the Citizen army, The poor fellow, he sald,
waa anxious about the wife as she was in a delicate state of health when he was leav

ing home, Halpin, he told me, had been taken in an exhausted condition from a chimney
and 1%t would bs & help and comfort to him if we could peassure him about his wife's

health, I undertook to visit Mrs Halpin and Powerscourt sald I could see the prisoner

afterwards and at any time 1 wished,

This brings me to TUSSDAY <.d.May. 1 had soen the Parish Priest of SS.lichaol
and John'y the previous evening and I arranged to pring Holy Communion to James

Connolly, and on the morning of Tuesday James Connolly recelved Holy Communion,

At 11 m.m, Tuesday Fatnor augustine and myself were at Headquarters of (en, Maxwell
“ by apreintment and had an interview with him, wWe availed of the opportunity to
., Bpeak of the nonourable and clean records of the men who had been enguged in the

struggle. But we were given no information - eimply thanked for being Instrumentsl
in preventing purther blocdshed,

1 had just gone to bed -falrly exhausted and expecting a good reat when I was
called to learn that a military car was at the gate anda letter was handed to me
telling me that the Priscner Pearase desired to see me and I had permission to see
him; and that failing me he could see any other Capuchin Father, With that I

accompanied the mllitary and we drove in the direction of Charlemont Bridge, The
snlping from the roofs was 8o flerce that the car did not venture to proceed farther
and terning back we :want direct to Kilmainham, The soldiers had told us that they
had a couple of calls to make, Later we heard that the proposed calla were to lirsg
McDonagh and Mrs Pearse whom they had intended bringing to the prison before the
exscutions,

At Kilmainham 1 learned that Thomas MoDonagh had also asked for my ministratinns,

1 spent some hours between the two cells and the preparation these two men made

~ to meet death was simply inspiring and edifying, When I met Pearse I said ' I am
sure you will be glad to lmow that I gave Holy Communion to James Connolly thise
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morning' ' I can't forget the fervour with which, lcoking up to heaven, he sald
"THANK GOD, 1T 1S THE ONE THING I WAS ANXIOU3 ABOUT ™

1 heard the confeaslons of Pearse and MoDonagh and gave them both Holy Communion,
They received the M,B.Sacrament with intense devotion and spent the time at taeir
disposal in prayer. They were bappy - no trace of fear or a.:g_:iaty. Pgaree had writ
ten some notes for his mother, He sald that he kmew I could not take them, nor would
he wish me to do sc, but would be glad if I could ask the officer in charge to have
them conveted to his mother. The officer assured me that he would have his wishes
ua.rri.e;d nut; Between 2 and 3 a.m, all visitors were ordered to leave, 1 hought
that it would be my right to remain to the end, But the offiocer said 1 shouldie—
leave .- lnslsting that the order could mot include the olergyman I requested him to
phone Headquarters, and having done 80, or at least having told me that he had domne
80, he sald the order was confirmed and that there was to be no exception, 1 was
grieved that 1 was not permitted to be by the side of the _:an to the end, But I felt
at any rate that I was leaving them in the best dispositions, and when I resached

Church 3treet I offered Mass for them,

In the morning of Wednesday about 9,30 I called to Kilmainham , Thomas kcDoOnagh's
eister - Sr, Francesca, had left with him a iosary beads which wae a cherished heir
loom §n the family, and I had promised to see it was not loat, I took the occasion
to lodge an official complaint and protest , I sald that in every colvillsed country

the clergyman was permitted to remain with the prisoner, to be prasent at the execut

ion and a.d.mininta? Extreme Unotion, The protast had ita effect, and at the latsr exse
cutions the Priest was allowed to remain,

On Wednesday morning later I drove out to eee Mrs MoDonagh to break the newa to her,

andsa aleo to St.Enda's to break the nowas to Mra Pearae. HNaturally I dld not think
there would be any further executions, and I told Mrs Pearse that I belleved Willle
would be eparad, " No, she sald, I belleva they wlll put him to death; too. They were

inseparable, Willle would never be Rappy to live without Pat." -

That same night a message came to the efirect that some of the Patlm rs would be re-

& guired - and Willle Pearse, Plunkett, Daly, and O'Hanrahan were exscuted. Opn

Friday morning Major McBride was exsouted and a.ttom‘l-a\ahn by one of our Fathers,
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SUNDAY 7 May. 4 priest called early in the aftermoon of Sunday 7Tth.May to
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{ JOBN DILLCK) bag me to 'do what I oould to stop the executions. He suggesated
-]
that I should see John D,Mugent M,P, for Colleze Green Diwision
1 1 ealled to Nugent and he said that he would be only too glad to do anything
poasible and he was sure that Jolm Dillon would gladly give any aselstance;
he would get In touch with Dillon, later in the evening he called to Churah
Street to tell me that_ John Dillon whahddbe wished very muoch to see me, I took
& car to N,Gt.Georges St and had a talk with Mr Dillon. He sald that he dleagreed
with the polioy of the men and feared they had put back the Home Rule ¥ovement for
33&1:3. But, he sald, in spite of all that he admired their courage and respected
their convictions, He had always had esteem and admiration for Patrick Poaree, They
were all Irishmen, he sald and brave Irishmen, Anything he could dn:lr t0 prevent fur-
ther executions he certainly would do. He took my car and drove atraight to the
Castle and got through a telegram to John Bedmond at vastminister, On hid way baok
from the Castle he called to Church St. to let me lmow what he had done. He asked
me if I thought he should cross to london. 1 thought it wiser he should remaln for ~
the prasent and keep Redmond au courant with how thinga were shaping here,
That same night we pgot word that there were to be four more executions -and on
MONDAY morning BEBemonn Ceannt, Con,Colbert Sean Heuston and ML, Mallin were
exec ted and were attended by Fathers Auguatine and Albert, I

I went to Dillon again immediately I got word and he was horrified, I sald that

1 was now convincedothat he should cross to Llondon and ralse hell in ths house,

He oould not cross nexr morning but aseured me that he would do 80 at the firet
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. possible moment, In fact he did so on Tursday or Wednesddy for Thursday momning's papers

. reported that has had moved the adjournment of the House to disouss the executlons and that

Asquith undartook to give opportunity for discuseion on the following night, promising

that meanwhile thersa would be no more exaoutions,
T — T ——
/!

rs

In the aftsrnoon of THURSDAY I called to see Commolly at the Castle, He seemed very
feverish and told me that he had not slept the prévious night. I suggested that 1 should
call again in the morning to hear his confession and give him Holy Communion again. He

thanked me but said he would not like to put me to the trouble of coming agaln in the

morning when I had so kindly come that evening, \hen 1 insisted that 1t would be mo troub

le ~ that in any case 1 should come in the morning to give him H,Communion and I could
&oar his confession before that, he thanked me again and sald he would be glad as he real

Ay falt bery unwell just thens I left him, but a very uneasy feeling took possession

of me, I asked for Captain Stanley and after a long wait was told that they had search
8d everywhere and could not find him
e ~
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end could not find him, I left but when I reaghad the Castle gates the apme .

uneasiness troubled me - I gimply could not go om., &0 returning to the Castle

I succeeded in seeing Yapt,Stanley., 1 asked him if there was any danger of &ny
thing happening that night, He assured me that hothing could happen, for, he sald,
you sew in the pppers that Asquith promised thera would be no executions pending the
Hebate which is on tondght, But about 9 0.C - Stanley was at Church Street to
say that my services would be needed about 2 .am, next morning {Friday) . He was not

at liberty to say more, but he kmew that 1'd understand what 1t meant,

At. 1 a,m, the car came for me, 1 heard Connolly's Confession and gave him
Holy Commnion again, Then 1 left while he was being given a light meal. I

had a long talk with Stanley in the Castle Yard, He told me that he had been very
much impressed by Connolly, and gha t Surgeon Tobin had been very struck too by his
character, He told me an amumsing story ,e had from Surgeon Tobin, 1 dont know if

1 ought to narrate 1it. .

How the time appointed, = Connolly was to be taken téi Kilmainham, I had & few
wurﬂla. 1 sald that the men who would execute him were soldiers - probably they
Knew nuthing\ about him -and like soldiers would simply obey orders and flree-—
And I wanted him to feel mo anger againet them -but to say as Our Lord sald on
Calvary -"PFather, forglve them" gnd to Bay & pr;.yar for them, ' I do, father, he
answeied - 1 respect every man who does his duty,”

James Comnnolly wus then brought down to the car and laid on a stretcher in it,

I sat in the ambulange car with him — and said a last word t him before they took
bim from the car in Kilmainham Yard, He was put sitting on a chalr, And the order f
was given, They fired and Father Eugene MoCarthy who had been inattendance on
Sean McDermott earlier, went over and anointed Connolly. 1 had stood just behind
the firing line, It was & scene I should not ask to witneas again, 1 had got to
imow Connol¥yy -to wonder at his stremgth of charcater andmarvellouspo—w—-—- 1
power of concentration, I pad got to regret that 1 had not kmown him jonge- -
and now 1 had to say goodbye —All 1 could do was to returm with a heavy heart and J

to offer the Holy Sacrifice for his soul, "Now I thank God that I knew him,
. '
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# 1 have little more to aay. Ir 'a.y mum'ing'n pgpar.a reported a sensational speech

by John Iiil[\n i:. the House of ne, it was a f l'ar::e attack u]n the British Goverh-
ment for th hmtal treasment of, \/ -
v
- .

1 have little more to say. Friday morning's papers reported a sensational speeoh by

v

Jonn Dillon in the House of Uommons, 1t was a fierce attaok on the brutal conduct of

the British authorities:' It is not murderers who are being executed' he sald,' but

men who fought & clean - a brave fight.,' The Prime Minliater rése and hls reply

startled the House. He announced that he was crossing himaself that very nlght to in=-

vestigate, Evildently word was conveyed to the Castle to have McDermott and Connolly

- i

out of the way before his arrivel, Uho was responsible I don't lmow, I visited -

L -
-

Richmond Barracks on Friday to see the prisoners and , amongst others chatted with

*

Sean T, 0'Helly, Lawrence 0'Neill (lord Mayor, and my old friend Alderman Tom Kelly,
and got an account of asquith's visit from them, 1 understand there was some unusual

@ breakfast fare - rashers and eggs as well as my memory serves ma, Tha prlaonera
!

ware not lmpressed, 1 am afraid , nelther waas l.

I have told my tale, I have narrated facts that cams under my own personal observation,

1t is a small contribution tQ the story of our country - and no history of Ireland

SR

can be written without its chapter of the events of Easter Week and the sequel The
executions had rallied the whole nation behind the memories of the men who died and

she leadership of thelr comrades who survived. I do not intend to express any visws

a !

&oncerning the sad days of olvil war and bitter strife that dividud homes angé sundered

£,
[
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life%ong friendships, Let us try to forget what is painful - let us remegnber what i

neartening and inapiring. #e are & small nation but an anclent and a glorious one,

—
-

If we have dlvergences of view let us calmly discuas and sincerely re&lsnlva, and let
“‘“"--._.f‘-—"_f

the interests of Ireland, our com-on country, prevall over class differences or political

opiniona, God has preserbed us from the terrible experiences of the natlong that are
today locked in the bloody and inhuman conflict of the present senseless war., God grant
we may never forget our naticnal and out religlous struggles and triumphs and my the
heritage of these sacred memories deepen the attachment of the Youth and of future gonsr
" ations to God and Fatherland,

—
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MEMORIES, OF BASTER WEEK, 1916« BUREAU OF MILITARY 1i3TORY 1013-21
BY BURQ STAIRE MILEATA 191321
REV. FATHER ALOYSIUS, O.F.M. CgiNO. W.S.

I have been asked to recall for you some memories of a stirrip
period in the etory of our country. There are amongst you those
who could tell that story more interestingly and from more 1lntimate
knowledge, because they were in closer touch with the events of
Baster Week, For that reason I hesitated to comply with the
request, and I am here simply because I could not refuse to do a
favour when ssked by men who, onmany ogcasions, had shown themselve
kindly and courteous to me and had gone to a great deal of trouble
and inconvenience to help me. It ie, too, a pleasure for me %0 he
with you. As a priest I am the minister, that is, the servant of
all clgees — or perhape rather I should say, I knowjclass, for
every sould is equally precious. But my ministry has been chiefly
cast smongst the working classs of Dublin, and I am proud to think
that I may call them my friends; I -have always felt at home with

And now I come toc tell my tele, such as it ia. I realise how
rapidly history is made. The great Encyclical "Rerum Novarum" is
acclaimed the world over as- the "Workers' Charter® - and yet how
foew now living can recall the death of Pius IX, end the electiom
of Leo XIII - the author of the immortal encyclical. It seems but
yosterday to me. The status of Charles Btuart Parnell adorns your
principal thorcughfere, and to the younger generation it is an
ancient land mark., I can remember the first great vietory of the
man armd his triumphant entry into Cork when he was halled as
"the nncrowned king of Ina'.’l.-am.d". Then there was the gloriaus
epoch when a united people stood emthusiastically behind the solid
united ranks of the Irish Party in its struggle for the
independence of Ireland - then the rise of the Sinn Fein Movement
and the beginning of the Volunteers end the Cltlzen Army; and
then to come to the period with w_hich we are concerned tonight,
the Rising and its eequel; this is 1944 and It means that we are
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28 years removed from historic 1916. It means that eny man 28 .
yoars or unider was not born and that over that age many were but
babies or little more than infants and incapable of understanding
or appreclating what was heappening arouni them., And so I am
talking to some whose only acquaintance with the events of the time
mugat be through newspaper chronicles - in many instances inaccurate
and misleading - or through talks such as this tonight. I am mot
tonight concerned with tha. political sspect or implications of the
evente ~ but with the historical aspect only. History in years to
" come will be conmstructed from various contacte pleced together into
a whole and #ith the most important events sifted from the trivial
and insignificant. It was my office as Priest that brought me into
touch with the heppenings of the period. I shall follow notes whicl
at the time I Jotted down a8 an aide-memoire and which later
appeared in the Capuchin Annual. Indeed I can give you little more
= Just the notes expanded here and there.

Circumstences created 80 many contacts between Church 8t. and
the participants in the Baster Week Rising that people were led to
think that we were in the secret and were aware of the preparations.
But thet is not so. The truth is that it all came on us as a
eurprise, as it did on most people. On Sunday night the Opening
Concert of the Father Mathew FPete was held in the Bather Hathew
Hall. The house was full and I remember well how Miss Joan Burke
sang “"The Minetrel Boy" with a spirit that electrified the large
audience - the stmoephere seemed charged, and I rarely saw a
gathering so enthusiastic. Of course, there had ha;n rumours of
all sorts in the city that day. There had heen preparations for a
parade of Tnlu:ntaara end it had been called off, that was enough
to account for the tense spirit and the pitch of enthusiasm that
characterised the meeting. Perhaps some of those present were Iin
the know -~ perhaps some of the artiastes had an inkling or
suspicion of something. I do not know.

Next morning - Easter Honday - I walked over to Gloucester

Btreet to say Mass at the Convent. On my way I notlced some Flanne
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sconts on Bicycles and, later, passing to Gloucester 8t., I met
Padralg Pearse and asnother Volunteer on bicycles. They rode by
without recognising me - they were evidently intent on reachlng
their objective in time. Padraig Pearse wore a loose overcoat or
mackintosh which covered some baggage. They had come into
Gloucester 8t. from Rutland 8t., I understand, and the Volunteer
who accompanied Padralg, I wae later informed, wae Willie Pearse.

I at once concluded that there was something in the air - probably
they had decided to attempt the parsde in spite of. the euthorities,
On my way back tc Church S8t. I passed several individual Volunteerr

- goms on bicyclesn.

Bhortly after 12 o'clock, as we were at 1um:h;ann, we were
startled by rifle fire, and very socn, word was brought to the
Friary that a little boy had been shot mear the Father Mathew Hall
and a wounded man wee also brought to the Friary, and a number of
terrified children crying, came to us for shelter. By 1l.30 p.mo.
barricades had been erected in Church 8t. and were manned by
,Volunteers. The Father Mathew Fois was in session and the
children were hastily got under the ataga'fbr safety until it was
Judged wise to send them home. An Australian who happened to be
in Dublin, passing through Church St., stopped to speak to me. I
was stamding at the Church gate. He told me that he was a doctor
and he offered hie services to render any aseistance needed. He
attended to the wounded man who hed been brought to the Friary.
Towards night volleys of firing beceme more frequent — and at
midnight 1t became eo violent that it seemed to be at our very
gatea. The Volunteers rang the house bell to tell us that the
military were actually in Bow St. They were mistaken however.
What had happened wae that an attack was made by Volunteers on the
Quays on a military detachment with ammunitlion.

/
On Tuesday morning volleys of rifle fire were frequent. A

request was made by the Richmond Hospital for the services of some
of the Fathers ss wounded men were arriving there. A few of the
Fathers went and took up residence at the Hospital for the
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remainder of the week. The doctors and nmurses, anl Sisters of
Charity of 8t. Vincent de Paul then attached to the N.D.Union,
were most aﬂﬂlidunus in their attention to the sick, and medicels
and doctors (Drs. Myles and 0'Carroll) braved all the dangers to
keep the institution in provisicns. The Volunteers toock over the
FPather Mathew Hall as a hospital for first sid, and Cumann na
mBan girls attended to emergency cases. Some of our Fathers were
also constantly in attendance., 8Serious ceses were removed to the

Richmond.

Rumours had been current the previous day that the G.P.0. and
Caetle had bBeen taken by the Volunteers end that the Magazine
(Powder) in the Park had been blown up. News had reached us of
the deaith of Bean Commelly who bad baen shot at the Cliy Hall or
Castle.

The Volunteers took posseseion of the newly-built (but
unfinished) Corporation Houses in Church St. The windows were
protected with sandbags. Next day (Wednesday) the wildest rumours
wore in circulation, it no incident of speclal intereat was
- reported. The rifle and machine gun firing was continued through-
ocut the day. On Thuraday very extensive: fires could be seen and,
a8 far as we could locate them, they were principally in O'Connell
8t. and G.P.0. and Clery's seemed to be involved. The rifle and
machine gun volleys were almnst continuous. The Volunteers had
taken prisoners - soldiers from Linenhall Barracks and a D.M.P,
man, and had them working at filling sandbags in the Father Mathew
Hall., On Friday, the machine gun firing was continuoue and thers
wore many explogions from bombe or hand grenades. We heard the
heavy boam of canmon from the direction of the bag. This was
Friday, and, owing to difficulties of transport, food wes running
short and 1t was difficult to obtain milk. The Volunteers worked
very hard to bring up provisions, and I should here recall the
fearless conduct of the young Flanna who braved all danger and
kept communications going beiween various posts and,rendered x=mima

valuable assistance in maintaining supplies. A sad occurrence
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was reported today from the H,D.Union - two young fellows climbed
to top of the clock tower only to be caught by snlpers from
Broadetone and fetelly wounded.

The firing was very intense all through Friday night and
without cessation until 3 to 4 p.m. on Baturdeay afternoon. Many
explosions, and many bulldimge could be Been blszing. The number
of wounded was incrseasing and many ceasas wara brought to the
Pather Mathew Ha.lll. By 4 pem. the military were as far as the
Junction of King Bt. and Church St. and were firing on the Church
Bt. barricades. The Cumann na mBan girls at the Father Mathew
Hall were very axn;l.taﬂ and paturally feared for the poor wounded
under thelir care. A message had been sent under a white flag to
acquaint the military that the Hall was being used as a hospltal,
but 1t had no effect. Father Augustine dispatched Micheal
O Foghludha with a white flag to secure a doctor, but he was
detained by the military. A second messenger, bearing amdh white
flag and raﬂ croes flag and a note to the Commander, was sent. In
the note, Father Augustine informed the Commander that he wae a
priest and ssked for the favour of an interview at the barrier as
the Hall wase used as hospital and had several very serious cases.
The reply was oral: the military would grant none of the
amenities of war but would treat them as outlaws and rebels.

The position was desperate and Father Augustine an:li myself aaci;aea
that there weas no option but to go ocurselfes, and seek an inter-
view with the officer i1n command. Accompanied by Volunteer Doyle,
who carried s white flag, we paseed the barrier and, between two
goldiers with fixed bayonets, we went to North King Ste until we
reached opposite the new houses near Lurgan 8t. where we were told
we should walt the arrival of Colonel Teylor, who was in charge.
While we walted there, three large companies of soldiers marched
by and an armoured car and sn ambulance: s8tood mear. The Colonel
then arrived and listened to our statement; he mede no answer,

but unceremoniocusly turned and welked off. A long time elapsed -~

to us 1t seemed an hour - so anxious were we for the safety of
*
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the poor patients in the Father Mathew Hall. Then we saw Colonel
Taylor at the corner of Church 3t. and we approached him, He very
coolly informed uwe that & truce had been arranged. While with the
Colonel, Micheal O'Foghludha came to complain that the soldiers ﬁnd
prevented him from going for a doctor. dJust as he was speaking
some shots rang out from a house between N. Eing St. and N,Brunswick
Bt. and, turning to Foley, Col. Taylor brutally shouted at him to
atop the firing or he would shoot him, end, ordering him to the
other side of the street, he kept him covered by his revolver. FPoor
Foley, exhausted and hoarse, tried to tell the Volunteers that there
was a truce and asked them to cease firing. Father Augustine
stepped forward and appealed to them, toa, and informed them that.
Col. Taylor had told us that, followlng advice to surrender from
Poarse, a truce had been made. The Volunteers believed 1t was only
a ruse of the military and would not belleve it. However, they
sgreed to keep the truce: for the night on our undertsking to see
Pearse in the morning at the earliest moment and satisfy ourselves
and them of the genuineness of Pearse's message. We then returned
to Father Mathew Hell and gave word to those in charge of the
wounded. Arrangements were at once made to tranafer the wounded to
Richmond Hospital.

And mow we come to the second chapter of the tragic story -~
the Sundasy of the surrenders. Eafhar Augustine and myself
celebrated Mass about 7 o/¢. and after 2 cup of coffee and a very
light mesl of bread only we walked to the Gastle to seek a permit
to see Pearse. We had en interview with Brigadier General Lowe
who was in command of the British Military forces. He received us
very courteously and promptly granted us the permit to see Pearse
at Arbour Hill. The General suggested that we should see Connolly
also, as he was responsible for the Citizen Army, and he took us to
the room in the Castle where Gonnolly was a patient. In our
presence he asked Connolly 1f his signature toc the letter advising
surrender was genuine. Connolly's reply w;a "Yes, to prevent
needless slaughter", He added that he spoke only for his own men:.
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General Lowe then placed his car at our disposal, but he appealed
to us to proceed to Jacob's Factory after we had seen Pearse and
assured the Church 8t%. Volunteers of the genuineness of the message
He told us that the Volunteers. in Jacob's were still holding out
and that he had not succeeded in getting the message to them. It
wituld, he said, be & great charity 1f we could do this, as other-
‘l;_iﬂﬂ he would be obliged to attack end demolish the factory with
great lose of life.

-

We drove to Arbour Hill, saw Pearse, and were assured by him
that he had signed the letter. The text of the mesaage was -

"In order to prevent the further slaughter of Dublin
cltizens, and in the hope of saving our followers,

mow surrounded and hopelessly outnumbered, the

members of the Provisional Govermment present at
Headgquarters have agreed to an uncondl tional surrender,

. and the commandants of the warious districts in the

¢lty and country will order their commands to lay down
arms",

P.H. Pearaoea.

29th April 1916.
It was signed by J. Connolly with the note that he signed

only for mén under his command.

Woe now learned that Father Columbus had already obhtained a

copy of the message and had brought it to the notice of the
Volunteers in the district and that they had surrendered.

We then proceeded in the direction of Jacob's, and, leaving
car and chauffeur a little above Whitefriars St. Priory, we went
on foot to the factory. We were admitted thrmél Poeter Streat
entrance and brought to Commandent Thomas McDonagh. Miss O'Farrell
had already arrived with a copy of Pearse's letter.

Here we met Major McBride who said that he would oppose any
attempt at eurrender. McDonagh eaid that as Pearse and Connclly
were under arrest they were not free men ani the letter written
by them in custody qnuld have no woight. He was next in command
now that the others were under arrest, and he could not enter into
negotiations with anyone except the General Officer commanding the
British mili tary. HHe was pre‘pnrﬂ& t0 meet him anywhere for parley
- in the faétory or elsewhere. He said that they paﬂ ample
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provisions and could hold out for some weeks. McDonagh believed
that a Peate Conference in Europe was on the point of being
gsummonsd end was convinced that Ireland would command attention and
a right to participate if 1t were a belligerent. We undertook to
eonvey his measage to Gen. Lowe, end, at his request, we accompanied
him to Infirmery Road, where he consulted General Maxwell. After
consultation with Maxwell he informed us that he was prepared to
meet McDonagh and ﬁakad us to convey a letter to McDonagh in which
he stated that he was willing to meet him at the N. Bast corner of
St. Patrick®s Park at 12 or 1 o/c. and umlertoak to give McDonagh
safa nunﬂu;t back to the factory.

-
-

Woe accompanied McDonagh and another Volunteer to S8t. Patrick's
Park at hour appointed and Gen. Lowe and McDonagh: met and conversed
for soms time on footpath and then withdrew 4o Gen. Lowe's car in

which they continued the parley.

The parley over, McDonagh returned to ue and told us that he

had decided to edviese surrender and that there was a truce until

3 pem. Meantime he was to consult the men at Jacob's, South Dublin
Union and Marrowbone Lene, and gilve final decision to General Lowe
at 3 pem. We then thought to return to Church St. but Gen. Lowe
begged us to see the whole thing through, as any hi%dh might be
fatal, and he was anxious to prevent further bloodshed. e placed
his motor at our service and, with McDonagh, we returned to Jacob's.
A council of officers was held there. Perhapa I should here remark
that we took no part in the conference end that all the decisions

were the free decisions of the men involved.

Our next business was to accompany lMcDonagh to the B.D.Union.
At Basin Lane we got out of car which remained at the barrier am
continued our journsy on foot. At the Union we met Bamon Ceanmt.
The officers had a consultation and decided to surrender. Return-
ing on foot to barricade at Basin Lane, McDonagh, a Volunteer,
Father Augustine and myself, we very nearly got a hot reception.
One of the British soldiere fired st us - the four of us escaped -
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I don't say because the soldier Was a poor aim, but because, we
were told, he had a drop of drink. One of the officers hastensd to

gpologlse and told us that the poldier was put under arrest.

THE SURRENDER.

At 3 p.m. we were again at St. Patrick's Park. Thomas McDonagh
taking off his belt, handed it with his revolver to Gen. Lowe. It
was then agreed that McDonagh should return and arrenge the surrender
at Jacob's, Marrowbone Lane, end S.D. Undon. This time we were
accompanied by Gen. Lowe's son, snd snother officer, and first we went
to Marrowbone Lene. I remained outside with motor and there was
considersble delay. I understand that there was some difficulty in
persuading the company to surrender as they were well fortified and
had ample provisions. After that we went agsin to S.D.Union. Eamon

Ceannt, speaking to one of the officers, told him that it would

surprise him to see the very small number that had held the place.

And now we are back at Jacob's. The Volunteers were lined up
in basement prepared to leave. Father Augustine was taking messages
from them for their relatives. Fr. Honahan had arrived to offer his
services. Suddenly we heard a tremendous crash and sounds like
bombs exploding, and a volunteer came to tell us thet the looters
had smashed the window and were bresking in to the offices at Bishop
5t. side. Fr. Monahan and myself went at once and with difficulty
got to the scene as a water main had been burst and the place was
floocded. The looters were busy and we found them getting out into
thg street with the stolen goods. ﬁ.atooﬂ at the window and
addressed them - if ever I managed ;n put fire 1lnto my words 1t wase
then. 8Side by side wlth the manly and straipghforward conduct of
those who had borne the brunt of the trying week, I thought their
conduct wretched and despicable and I did mot mince my words. The
result was that the crowd promised to leave and go to their homea
and the looters - at least a goodly number of them @ threw back the

looted articles.

Father Augustine and myself said goodbye to the men at Jacob's
and-undertook to convey messages to their friends, and withdrew.
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When we reachsd St. Patrick's Park we saw E. Ceanmt's contingent
arrive from S.D.Union and ground arms. E. de Velera with his forces

also arrived. Amongst the forces wore several girls -~ some armed.

And now we were glad to get back to Church 8t. = glad to get
something to eat - it was about 7 p.ms and we had heen fasting from
early morning.

This concludes the second chapter. And now I have to recall a
gad weok — the week of the Executions.

On 30th April and succeeding days, prisoners were removed from
Richmond Barracks and transferred by cattle boats from North Wall
to English end Scottish jeils - Knuteford, Stafford, Wakefield,
Wandsworth — and as they marched silently along the quays they were
on some occasions hooted by the crowd. In a few days, however, the
exacutions were to change the eititude of the people and anger was
to stir them ageinst the Government for the brutal treatment of.
brave men and admiration for the hernism of the men who had offered
their lives for Ireland was to seize on all.

THE EXRCUTIONS3.

It was the first week in May. Early in the morning of Monday
the son of Superintendent Dunne, D.M.P., celled to Church St. with
a message from Father Murphy, the Militery Chaplaein, to the effect
that he would be glad if I could call to the Castle ae Jiames
Connolly-a priscner and patient in hospltal - had expressed a wish
to see me. I went right awsy with young Mr. Dunne and Father Murph:
t0ld me that he had made s8l)l necessary arrangements and had the
raquired permission for me. With Ceptain Stanley, R.A.M.C. I went
to the ward or roem in wvhich Connelly wes a patient. At the door _
the sentry challenged Capt. Stanley, saying that hie instructlions
were to sllow no one to see the priscmer unlese with special permit
Capt. Stanley then went to seek the necessary permit. The seniry
esked me if I were Father Aloysius and said that I could go in.
However, I delayed, as the nurses were engeged with the patient,
and meanwhile Capte. Stanley arrived back with his permit. We
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entered the room together. Two eoldiers were on guard with rifles
and fixed bayonete., I protested and ineisted that I should be
allowed to see the patient alone. I was informed that it could not
be done. I asked Capte. Btanley if he was e Catholic, and he said he
was not. "Well" I said, "perhapa you canmot undersetemd the position.
Confession is a serious end & secret function. I canmot go on with
the men present. I must have privacy. I have not spoken to
Connolly before and do not know but he may not bg ksen ln heering.
In any case, I muat feel satisfied that hre can speak to me and I %o
him without danger of being overheard". Captain S8tanley sald he
had no power 0 make other aréangﬂmanma and I suggested that we
should see Fathér Murphy. On the way we met Gen. Lowe and Captain
8tanley told him ebout the situation. The General aﬁid he was sorry
but it was regulation. "Well" I said “I. have given my word thet I
am on no political miseion and am not going to use the opportunity
for any political purpose - that I em acting only as a minister of
religion - as a priest. If my word as & prieet canmoi be aceepted,
then he had better get some other priest. I should refuse to under-
take the duty if he could not give me the privacy I asked for'. The
Geoneral said he had no doubt about my word, but 1t was the rule
governing nuuh.caaai. I could help the prisoner to escape, that is
the way the regulations looked at it or, 1f Comnolly attempted to
escape I might not be strong enough to prevent it. My answer was
that I'd not interfere — it wasn't my job. If they could not make
provision for such an event without having soldiera actually in the
room, I juet could not go on with my work. The General yielded,

and said he would be satisfied if the sentries were posted outside
the door. I may say that I had little doudbt that I'd get my way ~
and I got it.

The General then told me that he had seen General Maxwell and
hed reported to him the part we had taken on the provious day in
making the megotiations possible and preventing further bloedshed,
and that Maxwell had expressed a wish to meet us. Hoping 1t might
afford us an opportunity of saying a word on behelf of the prisoners

I agreed to meet the General.



12.

CORNOLLY .
Then I was taken to James Conmolly and allowed to see him alone

I said to him that I had given my word that 1t— was ae a priest I war
visiting him "T know that, Father" he enswered. "“You wouldn't get
this privilege otherwise, and it is as & I;riaat that I want to see
you. I have seen and have heard of the brave deeds of priests and
mumns during the week, end I believe they are the best friends of
the workers". He asked me if I had hesrd anything about Sean
Connolly - he had been told he was shot and he had great regard for
him. I told him it was unfortunately true, Then he said "Now we
had better turn to No. 1". rI heard his confession.

Coming away I met Captain Stanley egain. He seid thet 1t wouls
be a consolation to those in the Sinn Feln ward i1f a prlast could
ﬂnoié?at%ni%ytn them, and take word to thelr relatives that they
were alive and how they were., Availing of his kindness I went
through the ward and visited each bed. Some wanted prayer boaks
and agaln Ceptain 8tanley told me that he would distribute them for
me. I must here stop to pay tribute to Captein Stanley. all thro'
these days - and I hkad many occasions to meat him, he showed himsel
& kKind-hearted and christian man. In religlon as well as politice
differing — he respected the convictions and eadmired the courage of
the men and was anxious to do every service he could for them im
keeping with his duty. Connolly himself t0ld me that' Btanley had
been extremely kird to him. Wherewer he is today, May God reward
his good mature and his human feelings for those who were 1n sore
need of 1t.

In the afternocon I celled to the Castle Yard to ask for permlit
to visit prisonsrs who might need my services. The permit was
readily granted and signed by Lord Powerscourt, who acted, I under-
stend, as Assistamt Provost Marshal. Lord Powerscourt and some
other officers paid a tribute to the bravery of volunteers - one oi
the officere remarking.- 'they are the cleanest and bravest lot of
boys he had ever met'. Agein it is a pleasure to acknowledge

goodness whenever and wherever it is met, and I must here record
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another act of humanity and kindheartedness on the part of Lord
Powerscourt. Meeting me at the Castle on the occasion of one of my
visite to Jamse Connolly, he asked me if I could visit or get one
of the Pathers to vielt the wife of one of the prisoners ~ Wm.
Halpin of the Citlzen Army. The poor fellow, he sald, was anxious
about the wife as she was in a delicate state of health when he was
leaving home. Halpin, he told me, had been taken in an exhausted
condition from a chimney and 1t would be a help and camfaﬁt to him -
if we could reassure him ebout his wife's health. I undertook to
vislt Mrs. Hélpin and Powerscourt sald I could see the prisoner

afterwvards and at any time I wished.

This brings me to Tuesdav. 2nd Mav. I had seen the Parish
Prieat of S8. Michael and John's the previous evening and I arrangsd
t0 bring Holy Communion to James Connolly, and on the morning of

,

Tuesday James Comnolly received Holy Communion.

At 11 a.m, Tuesdey, Father Auguﬂtinﬁ and myself were at Head-
guarters of Gen. Maxwell by appointment and had an interview wilth
hims We availed of the opportunity to speak of th; honourable and
clean records of the men who had been engaged in the struggle. But
we were glven no information - simply thanked for being instrument-

al in preventing further bloodshed.

I had just gone to bed - fairly exhausted and ez;ac%ing a good
reat - when I was called to learn that a military car was at the
gate and a letter was handed to me, telling me that the Prisoner
Poarse desired to see me and I had permission to see him, and that,
falling me, he could see any other Capuchin Father. With thet I
accompanied the military and we drowe in the direction of
Charlemont Bridge. The sniping from the roofs was so fierce that
the car did not venture to proceed further, end turning back, we
went direct to Kilmainham. The soldiers had told us that they had
a couple of calls to mske. Later we heard that the proposed calls
were to Mrs., McDonagh and Mrs. Pearse, whom they had intended

bringing to the prison before the executions,
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At Kilmainhaem I learned that Thomas McDonagh had also asked
for my ministrations. I spent some hours between the two cells and
the preparﬂtiunl these two men made to meet death was simply
inspiring and edifying. When I met Pearse I said "I am sure you
will be glad to know that I gave Holy Communion to Jasmes Connolly
this morning" “I can't forget the fervour with which, looking up
to heaven, he sald "Thank Gode It is the one thing I was anxious

about",

I heard the confessions of Pearse and McDonagh apd gave them
both Holy Communion. They received the M.B. Sacrament with intense
devotion and spent the time at their disposal in prayer. They were
happy = mo trace of fear or enxiety. Pearse had written some notes
for his mother. He said that he knew I could not take them, nor
would he wish me to do sp, but would be glad if I could ask the
officer in charge to have them conveyed to his mother. The officer
assured me that he would have his wishes carried out. Detween 2 amd
3 a.m. all visltprs were ordered to leave. I thought that &t would
be my right to remain to the end, but the officer said I should
leave = Insisting that the order could not ineclude the clergyman.

I requested him to ‘phone headquartera and, having done so, or at
least having t0ld me that he hed done so, he seid the order was
confirmed and that there wap to be no exception. I was grieved
that I was not permitted to be by the side of the men to the end,
but I felt at any rate that I waarleaving them in the best

dispositions, and when I reached Church 8t. I offered Mass for them.

In the morning of Wednesday ebout 9.30, I called to Kilmainham.
Thomsa McDonagh's sister - 8r. Francesca — had left with him s
rosary beads whiqh was a cherished heirloom in the family, and I
haed promised to see it was not lost. I took the occasion to lodge
an official complaint and protests I said that in every civilised
country the clergyman was peemitted to remsin with the prisomsr, to
be present at the execution and administer Bxtreme Unction. The
proteat had its effect, and at the later executions the Priest was

gllowed to fﬁmain.
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On Wednesday morning later, I drove out to see Mrs. McDonagh
to break the nmews %0 her, and also to 8t. Enda's to breek the news
to Mre. Pearse. Naturelly I did not think there would be any
further executions, end I told Mrs. Pearse that I believed Willie
would be epared. '"No" she said, "I believe they will put him to
death too. They were 1nsa§arabla. Willie would never be happy to
live without Pat".

Thet same night a message came to the effect that some of the
Fathers would be required - and Willie Pearse, Plunkett, Daly and
O'Hanrehan were executed. On Friday morning, Major McBride was

executed and attended also by one of our Fathers..

A priest called early in the efterncon of Sunday, 7th Way to
beg me to do what I could to stop ?ha axncuticna. He suggested that
I should see John D. Nugent, ﬁ-?} for College Green Division., I
called to Nugent snd he said that he would be only too glad to do
engthing poseible and he was sure that John Dillon would gladly give
any aesistance. He would get in tough with Dillon. Later in the
oevening he callsed to Church 8t. to tell me that John Dillon wished
very much to see me, I took & car{ to North Gt. Georges St. and had
a telk with Mr. Dillon. He said that he disagreed with the policy
of the men end feared they had put back the Home Rule Movement for
years. But, he said, in spite of all that he admired their courage

and respected thelr convictions. He had aslways had esteem and

. admiration for Patrick Pearse. They were all Irishmen, he said, and

brave Irishmen. Anything he could do to prevent further executions
he cortalnly would do. He toak oy, car and drove straight to the
Cestle and got through a telegram to John Redmond at Westminster.

On hie way back from the Castle he called to Church St. to let me
know what he ha@ done. He asked me if I thought he should cross %o
London. I thought it wiser he should remsasin for the- present and keeg
Redmond au courant with how things were shaping here. That same
night we got word that there were to be four more axﬁcutinna, and on

Mondey morning Eemon Ceamnt, Con Colbert, Sean Heuaton and Ml.Mgllin

were executed and were attended by Fathera Augustine and Albert.
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T went, to Dillon again immediately I got word and ho was
horrified. I said that I was now convinced he should cross to
London and raise hell in the house. He could not cross next murﬁdnt
but assured me that he would do so at the first posaible moment.

In fact, he did so on Tuesday or Wednesday, for Thursday morning's
pepers reported that he had moved the adjourmment of the House to
dlscuss the executions and that Asquith undertock to give

opportunity for discussion on the following night, promising that,

meanwhile, there would be no more executions.

On Tuesday, 9th May, it was announced that Thomas Kemt (Cools,
near Fermoy, Co. Cork) was executed. And on Thursday, 1llth Hay,
Eemon de Valera and Thomas Ashe were sentenced to death, but the

sentence was commuted to penal servitude for life).

In the afterncon of Thursday I celled to see Conmolly st the
Castle. He seemed vory feverieh and told me that he had not slept
the previous night. I suggested that I should call again in ths
morning to hear his confession and glve him Holy Communion agaln.
He thanked me, but said he would not like to put me to the trouble
of coming again in the morning when I hed so kindly come that
evening. When I insisted that it would be no trouble - that in any
cage I should come in the morning to give him Holy Communion and
I could hear his confesslon before that, he thanked me again &and
sald he would be glad, as he really felt{ very unwell Just then. I
left him, but a very uneasy feeling took possession of me. I asked
for Captein Stanley and after a long walt, was told that they had
searched everywhere and c?‘uid not find him. I left, but when I
reached the Castle gates the same uneasiness troubled me — I simply
could not go on. S50 returning to the Castle I succeeded in seelng
Ga‘ptainkﬂtmﬂ.ﬂj’- 1 asked him if there was any danger of anything
happening that night. He assured me that nothing could happen,
for, he said,™you saw in the papers that Asguith promised there wol
would be no executions pending the debate which is on tonight".
But sbout 9 o'c. - Stanley wae at Church 8t. to say that my
gservices would be needed about 2 a.m. next morning (Friday). He
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was not at liberty to say more, but he knew I'd understand what 1t

meants.

At 1 aem. the car came for me. I heard Connolly's confession
end gave him Holy Communion again. Then I left while he was being
givém & light meals I had a long talk with Stanley in the Castle
Yards. He told me that he had been very much impressed by Connolly
and that Burgeon Tcbin had been very struck too by his character.
He told me an emusing etory he had from Surgeon Tobin. I don't
Enow if I ought to narrate it.

Now the time appointed - Connolly was to be taken to
Kilmainham. I hed a few words. I sald that the men who would
execute him were soldiers - probably they knew mothing about him -~
and - like soldiere — would eimply obey orders and fire, and I
wanted him to feel nn-angar agalnet them, but to say, as Our Lord

said on Calvary, "Father, forgive them" and to say a prayer for

-them, "I do, Father" he anewered "I respect every man who does

his duty". ) )

James Connolly was then brought down to the car andl laid on a
etretcher in it. I sat in the ambulance car with Him and ssid a
laest word to him before they tock him from the car in Kilmainheam
Yard. He was put sitting on a chalr and the order was. given.
They fired, and Father Eugene McCarthy, who had been in attendance
cn Sean Mclemmott earlier, went over and annointed Connolly. I
had stood just behind the firing line, It wae a scene I should not
agk to witness again., I had got to know Connolly -~ 0 wonder at
his strength of character and marvellous power of concentration.

I Bad got to regret that I haed not known him longer end nmow I had
to say goodbye. All I could do was to return with a heavy heart
and to offer the Holy éacriﬂce for his soul. TNow I thank God

that I knew him,

I have little more to say. Friday morning'a papera reported

a sensational speech by John Dillon in the House of Commons. It

was a flerce attack on the brutel conduct of the DBritish
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authorities. "It is not murderers who are being executed"

he paid, "but men who fought a clean, a brave,fight". The Prime
Minister rose and his reply startled the House. He announced that
he was crossing himself that very night to investigate. Evidently
word was conveyed to the Castle to have McDermott and Connolly out
of the way before his arrivel. Who was responsible I don't know.
I visited Richmond Barracke on Friday to see the prisoners and,
amongst others, chatted with Sean T. 0'Kelly, Lawrence 0'Neill
(Lord Mayor) and my old friend, Alderman Tom Kelly, and got an
account of Asequith's visit from them. I understand there was some
unusual breekfast fare - rashers and egge, as well as my memory
serves me., The priscners were not impressed, I am afraid;

neither was I.

I have told my tale. I have narrated faects that came under
my own personal observetion. It is & small contribution to the
story of our country - and no history of Ireland can be written
without its chapter of the events of Easter Week and the sequel.
The executions had rallied the whole nation behind the memories
of the men who died and the leasdership of their comrades who
survived. I do not intend to express any views concerning the
sad daye of civil war and bitter strife that divided homes and
sundered lifelong friendships. Let us try to forget what is pain-
ful - lat ue remember what is heartening and inspiring. We are a
emall nmatlon but an ancient and g gi&rious oma. If we have
divergences of view let ue calmly discuss and eincerely resolvs,
end let the interests of Ireland, our common country, prevail over
class differences or political opinions. God has preserved us from
the terrible experiences of the nations that are today locked in
the bloody and inhumen conflict of the present senseless war.

God grent we may never forget our mational and our religious
struggles and triumphe, and may the heritage of these sacred
memoriea deepen the attachment of the youth and of future
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generations to God and Fatherland. - l



